STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Gadola, P.J., Kelly, K.F. and Riordan, JJ

TOMRA OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. 158333

Court of Appeals No. 336871

v

Court of Claims No. 16-000118-MT

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY,

Defendant-Appellant.

TOMRA OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. 158335

Court of Appeals No. 337663

v

Court of Claims No. 14-000091-MT

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY,

Defendant-Appellant.

The appeal involves a ruling that a provision of the Constitution, a statute, rule or regulation, or other State governmental action is invalid.

**BRIEF ON APPEAL OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under MCR 7.303(B)(1) and MCL 205.22(3), as well as this Court's March 27, 2019 order granting Treasury's applications for leave to appeal.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The industrial processing exemption to the Sales Tax Act and Use Tax Act exempts from taxation property sold to certain taxpayers “for use or consumption in industrial processing,” which the Legislature defined as an activity that occurs after tangible personal property begins “movement from raw materials storage” but before tangible personal property becomes a “finished good.” Both exemption statutes identify potentially exempt industrial processing activities, including recycling, but also explicitly exclude “purchasing, receiving, or storage of raw materials” from eligibility for the exemption. Even if the reverse vending machines at issue in this case can be characterized as being used to ultimately facilitate a recycling operation at a later date, the industrial processing exemption is not available when the machines are not used in that function within the timeframe required by the statute. Based on this statutory framework, Treasury presents the following three questions:

1. Do the principles of statutory construction require a finding that the industrial processing exemption was not available in this case?

Appellant’s answer: Yes.

Appellee’s answer: No.

Court of Claims’ answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals’ answer: No.

2. Does the legislative history of the industrial processing statutes demonstrate that the temporal requirement included in the second sentence of the industrial processing definition must be given effect even when the exemption is claimed for an activity identified in subsection 3 of the statutes?

Appellant's answer: Yes.

Appellee's answer: No.

Court of Claims' answer: Did not answer.

Court of Appeals' answer: Did not answer.

3. Do prior decisions from this Court require the Court of Appeals' decision to be reversed?

Appellant's answer: Yes.

Appellee's answer: No.

Court of Claims' answer: Did not answer.

Court of Appeals' answer: Did not answer.

STATUTES INVOLVED

The relevant provisions of MCL 205.54t and MCL 205.94o central to the issues in this case contain identical language, as set forth below:

(2) The property under subsection (1) is exempt only to the extent that the property is used for the exempt purpose stated in this section. The exemption is limited to the percentage of exempt use to total use determined by a reasonable formula or method approved by the department.

(3) Industrial processing includes the following activities:

- (a) Production or assembly.
- (b) Research or experimental activities.
- (c) Engineering related to industrial processing.
- (d) Inspection, quality control, or testing to determine whether particular units of materials or products or processes conform to specified parameters at any time before materials or products first come to rest in finished goods inventory storage.
- (e) Planning, scheduling, supervision, or control of production or other exempt activities.
- (f) Design, construction, or maintenance of production or other exempt machinery, equipment, and tooling.
- (g) Remanufacturing.
- (h) Processing of production scrap and waste up to the point it is stored for removal from the plant of origin.
- (i) Recycling of used materials for ultimate sale at retail or reuse.
- (j) Production material handling.
- (k) Storage of in-process materials.

* * *

(6) Industrial processing does not include the following activities:

(a) Purchasing, receiving, or storage of raw materials.

* * *

(e) Plant security, fire prevention, or medical or hospital services.

(7) As used in this section:

(a) “Industrial processing” means the activity of converting or conditioning tangible personal property by changing the form, composition, quality, combination, or character of the property for ultimate sale at retail or for use in the manufacturing of a product to be ultimately sold at retail. Industrial processing begins when tangible personal property begins movement from raw materials storage to begin industrial processing and ends when finished goods first come to rest in finished goods inventory storage.

INTRODUCTION

The industrial processing exemption is not a wholesale release from the obligation to remit sales and use tax on all of the purchases made by those involved in the manufacturing of tangible personal property for sale at retail. To the contrary, the plain language of the industrial processing statutes demonstrates that the Legislature explicitly limited the exemption to eligible property actually used in industrial processing, which was defined not only by describing the nature of the actions that would qualify as industrial processing activities, but also by the acceptable time frame within which those activities must occur for the exemption to apply.

Treasury acknowledges that the nearly verbatim industrial processing exemption statutes contained in the Sales Tax Act and the Use Tax Act include “recycling” in the list of possible industrial processing activities. Treasury further recognizes that the reverse vending machines at issue in this case, and used by everyday consumers to return cans and bottles in order to recover the 10-cent deposit they paid when purchasing them, can reasonably be characterized as ultimately facilitating the recycling process. But there can be no doubt that the industrial processing exemption is not available to every item of property that can be so characterized. In addition to identifying potential industrial processing activities, the Legislature explicitly defined “industrial processing” as an activity that occurs after tangible personal property begins “movement from raw materials storage” but before tangible personal property becomes a “finished good.” The property at issue here was not used within this required timeline, and therefore cannot benefit from the exemption.

The temporal requirement included in the second sentence of the industrial processing definition must be given effect in order to prevent an expansion of the exemptions' availability beyond what was intended by the Legislature. The facts of this case, under which a homeowner returning the cans from a weekend barbeque is deemed to be engaged in industrial processing, plainly demonstrate the danger of eliminating the timing limitations set forth in the statute.

The Court below effectively overturned the Legislature's decision to limit the tax exemptions' availability to property that performs an activity during a specific time period. Instead of applying the definition as written, the Court of Appeals held that property can qualify for the exemption based solely on an examination of the *type* of action performed by a machine without regard for *when* the action is performed.

This ruling constitutes a judicially created tax loophole that will potentially result in the loss of many millions of tax dollars. This Court should reverse the decision below because it violates well-established rules of statutory construction, enlarges the industrial processing exemption beyond that contemplated by the Legislature, and is not consistent with this Court's holdings in previous decisions.

The dissent opinion recognized the errors inherent in the majority opinion's reasoning and correctly concluded that the Court of Claims' decision to grant summary disposition in favor of Treasury was consistent with the plain language of the industrial processing exemption, when read in its entirety.

Failure to correct the error made by the Court of Appeals will have substantial and far-reaching consequences, as evidenced by the fact that the amount at stake in this case, which involves only a single taxpayer and a limited tax period, measures in the millions of dollars. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and reinstate the trial court's decision in favor of Treasury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

Michigan's Bottle Law and reverse vending machines.

Michigan consumers are required to pay a deposit when they purchase specific beverage containers (bottles and cans) from retailers. MCL 445.571. The deposit is returned to the consumer by Michigan retailers when the consumer returns the beverage container. Retailers do not create a new product with the used beverage containers. Instead, they return the used beverage containers to a beverage distributor or manufacturer. In exchange, the beverage distributors or manufacturers reimburse the retailers the amount of deposits the retailer paid to everyday consumers. MCL 445.572(6).

Reverse vending machines are a “device designed to properly identify and process empty beverage containers and provide a means for a deposit refund on returnable containers.” MCL 445.572a(12)(j). Reverse vending machines do not form new products. They perform a task that facilitates the collection of used beverage containers, the retailers' obligation to refund previously paid deposits to the consumer, and the storage of used beverage containers until they are returned to beverage distributors or manufacturers in exchange for a cash refund.

(App pp 170a–171a.) Everyday consumers place their used beverage containers in the reverse vending machines. (App p 189a.) The machines read the UPC code on the beverage containers to determine if a deposit refund was previously paid. (*Id.*) The machines reject the beverage containers if a deposit was not previously paid, the barcode on the beverage containers is not readable, or the beverage containers

contain waste. (App pp 178a, 189a.) If a used beverage container is accepted, the container is dropped into a storage bin located behind the reverse vending machine. The machines also provide the consumer returning the beverage containers with a coupon indicating the deposit refund amount to which the consumer is entitled. (App p 174a.)

Tomra's business operations.

Tomra is a Connecticut company that purchases reverse vending machines from Tomra Systems ASA and then sells the machines to supermarkets and liquor stores in States that require consumers to pay a deposit on recyclable beverage containers. (App pp 170a–171a.)

Tomra sells reverse vending machines specifically for aluminum cans, plastic bottles, and glass bottles. (App p 174a.) There is no evidence to suggest that Tomra's customers purchased the reverse vending machines for the purpose of using them to create or form a new product created from the used cans and bottles collected from everyday consumers. Instead, the machines served to facilitate Tomra's customers' obligations related to the Bottle Bill. Primarily, the reverse machines are used to count the number of cans and bottles returned by a consumer seeking to collect the 10-cent deposit that was paid when the beverage was purchased. When an item is placed in the machine, the barcode is scanned to determine information about the container; while this information may be useful for companies that later process and sell aluminum, plastic, and glass on the commodity market, the information is used to determine whether the container

could be accepted at that location. (App pp 216a–217a.) The machines also place the accepted used bottles and cans into bins. (App p 182a.) Those bins are then stored at the supermarket or liquor store. (*Id.*)

Thereafter, a third-party comes to the customers' location, loads the bins containing the used beverage containers onto trucks, and then takes the bins to a new location. (App p 183a.) When the bins arrive at the new location, the bins containing aluminum cans and plastic bottles are dumped into separate hoppers. (App p 186a.) The hopper combines the cans into an aluminum cube. (*Id.*) The same is true for plastic bottles. (App p 206a.) When glass bottles arrive at the third-party location, they are placed on a conveyer that drops the bottles into a storage pit where they await transfer to a purchaser. (App p 199a.) The third-party may sell the aluminum and plastic cubes and glass to other third-parties, which in turn could process the post-consumer products into a product that can become a material part of a finished good. (App pp 186a, 193a, 197a.) However, there is no guarantee that the aluminum and plastic beverage containers will ultimately become part of a finished good.

At times, the reverse vending machines require maintenance or service. Tomra formed a joint venture with Shupan Recycling named UBCR, LLC. UBCR maintains and services reverse vending machines in Michigan. (App pp 056a–057a.) This is consistent with UBCR's website, where you can “[r]equest parts or service here” and Tomra's Senior Vice President of Government Affairs affidavit

“UBCR services all [reverse vending machines] in at least 600 Michigan stores.”

(App pp 234a–235a; App p 224, ¶ 34.)

Tomra did not claim the industrial processing exemption on its 2003 through 2006 annual sales tax returns, and it filed no returns for the 2007 and 2008 tax years.

Tomra filed Annual Returns for Sales, Use, and Withholding Taxes (Annual Returns) for the 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006 tax years. (Collectively App pp 049a–055a.) Those returns reported gross sales but they did not claim any deductions. (*Id.*, see ln 1 & ln 5.) Tomra did not file Annual Returns for the 2007 and 2008 tax years. (App p 140a.)

Treasury audits Tomra’s 2003 through 2008 sales tax liability.

Treasury performed a sales tax audit of Tomra’s records for the period October 1, 2003 through December 31, 2008. (App p 139a.¹) The purpose of the audit was to verify whether Tomra had the records to substantiate its sales tax liability. (*Id.*)

Treasury’s auditor compared Tomra’s sales tax returns with Tomra’s internal records. Treasury’s auditor became concerned because the amount of gross sales that Tomra reported on its Annual Returns were substantially less than the gross sales amounts listed in Tomra’s own internal accounting records. (App pp 129a–130a; App pp 140a–141a.) Specifically, the gross sales Tomra reported on line 1 of its Annual Returns were less than the sales amounts Tomra recorded in its

¹ Tomra was also under a Michigan use tax audit at the same time.

Michigan sales sub-ledger. (App pp 140a–141a; App pp 130a, 135a.) Treasury’s auditor attempted to reconcile the difference between Tomra’s own internal accounting records and the amounts Tomra reported on its annual sales tax returns as gross sales. (App pp 139a–158a.) Specifically, the auditor requested a “complete tie out to the customer” to determine who paid sales tax and whether or not the sale would be exempt. (App p 132a.) The auditor limited his request to a six-month sampling period. (App p 140a.) Tomra did not provide a single customer invoice for the six-month sampling period. (*Id.*; App pp 128a, 131a, 136a.) In fact, Tomra’s representative failed to produce any documents to support the transactions Tomra excluded from gross sales. (App pp 131a, 133a-134a, 137a.) Tomra could not even identify who their customers were during the audit period. (App p 127a.) Consequently, the auditor was left with no other option but to recreate Tomra’s sales tax liability for the 2003–2008 tax years based on the best available information: Tomra’s internal accounting records. MCL 205.68(4).

Treasury’s auditor used Tomra’s own internal accounting records, specifically Tomra’s general ledger, to determine the amount of gross sales Tomra should have reported on its 2003–2008 Annual Returns. (App pp 140a–141a.) The amounts the auditor included as gross sales were “parts income,” “Sales of Equip & Product income,” and “Leased Equipment.” (App pp 152a–157a.) The auditor did not include “installation income,” “service income,” “freight revenue,” or “Canadian revenue” as gross sales. (*Id.*) Applying the determined gross sales amount to the 6% sales tax, the auditor arrived at Tomra’s computed sales tax liability. The

auditor then subtracted that amount from Tomra's as-reported sales tax liability. The result was Tomra's sales tax deficiency for the 2003–2008 tax year: \$516,562. (App pp 139a–158a; App pp 058a–059a.) The auditor also added a 10% negligence penalty because Tomra did not accurately report its Michigan gross sales on its Annual Returns and did not provide records during the course of the audit. (App pp 139a–158a.)

Tomra challenges Treasury's Intent to Assess before Treasury's Hearings Division and requests a \$2,458,452 refund.

After receiving the Notice of Intent to Assess No. TH82977, Tomra requested an informal conference to dispute Treasury's determinations regarding the unsubstantiated exempt sales, the underreported gross sales, and the resulting intent to assess. (App pp 060a–071a.) In the same letter, Tomra requested a \$2,458,452 refund from Treasury claiming that Tomra charged and collected \$2,458,452 in sales tax from its Michigan customers for the October 1, 2003 through December 31, 2008 period—the same time period covered by Treasury's intent to assess. According to the letter, “[t]hese taxes were erroneously collected because the equipment sales to TOMRA's customers qualified for the Michigan industrial processing exemption.” (*Id.*) The letter did not mention the 10% negligence penalty. (*Id.*)

Twelve days after Tomra challenges Treasury’s assessment, Tomra files amended Annual Returns.

While Tomra’s informal conference was pending before Treasury’s Hearing Division, Tomra filed amended Annual Returns for the 2003 through 2006 tax years. (App pp 072a–97a.) Tomra also filed 2007 and 2008 Annual Returns for the first time. (App pp 072a–074a, 098a–125a.) According to the cover letter filed with these Annual Returns, the returns “reflect the claim for refund for all Michigan sales tax collected from TOMRA’s customers and paid during the relevant periods in the amount of \$2,258,229.”² (App p 072a.) The 2003 through 2006 amended Annual Returns reported nearly the same gross sales as Tomra’s original Annual Returns. (App pp 049a & 081a (2003), 051a & 083a (2004), 053a & 091a (2005), 055a & 093a (2006).) But these amended returns, unlike the original returns, listed specific deductions from gross sales for industrial processing. (*Id.*)

Treasury’s Hearing Division affirms Treasury’s assessment and denies Tomra’s 2003–2008 refund request.

Treasury rejected Tomra’s refund claim and upheld Intent to Assess TH82977. Treasury then issued Final Assessment TH82977 against Tomra for \$516,562 in tax, \$58,502 penalty, and interest. (App p 138a.)

Tomra appealed Treasury’s decision to deny the sales tax refund request to the Court of Claims on May 8, 2014. (Compl in 14-000091-MT.) On July 29, 2014, Tomra filed a second complaint in the Court of Claims challenging Final

² This is \$200,223 less than the refund amount listed in Tomra’s 12/02/2011 letter.

Assessment TH82977. (Compl in 14-000185-MT.) Because both complaints requested a determination from the Court of Claims that the reverse vending machines and repair parts Tomra sold to Michigan customers were exempt from Michigan's sales tax under the industrial processing exemption, the Court of Claims consolidated the cases on September 10, 2015.

Tomra requests a \$673,511.65 sales tax and \$24,992.95 use tax refund for the period of March 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011.

While Tomra's consolidated cases were pending, Tomra filed a sales and use tax refund request for the period of March 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011.

(App pp 231a–233a.) Like its previous refund request, Tomra asked Treasury to refund \$673,511.65 in sales tax that Tomra allegedly “collected in error because Tomra's sales of [reverse vending machines] in Michigan are exempt pursuant to the industrial processing exemption.” (*Id.*) The same letter also requested a \$24,992.95 refund from Treasury for the use tax that Tomra allegedly “self-assessed” on “spare parts” that Tomra reportedly “used for the repair and maintenance of the exempt machines.” (*Id.*)

Because a year had passed since Tomra's refund request, Tomra exercised its right under MCL 205.30(2) to consider the refund requests denied and then filed a verified complaint with the Court of Claims. Like Tomra's previous complaints filed in the Court of Claims, this complaint requested a determination from the Court of Claims that the reverse vending machines Tomra sold to Michigan customers were exempt from Michigan's sales tax under the industrial processing exemption.

The Court of Claims affirms Treasury’s denial of Tomra’s 2003–2008 sales tax refund, the corresponding assessment, and Treasury’s denial of Tomra’s 2011 sales and use tax refund.

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