**IN THE SUPREME COURT**  
**APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Gadola, P.J., and K.F. Kelly and Riordan, JJ.**

---

TOMRA OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.,	Supreme Court No. 158333
Plaintiff-Appellee,	Court of Appeals No. 336871
v	Court of Claims No. 16-000118-MT
DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY,	
Defendant-Appellant.	

---

TOMRA OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.,	Supreme Court No. 158335
Plaintiff-Appellee,	Court of Appeals No. 337663
v	Court of Claims No. 14-000091-MT
DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY,	
Defendant-Appellant.	

---

**BRIEF ON APPEAL OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE**

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

June Summers Haas (P59009)  
Daniel L. Stanley (P57052)  
Honigman LLP  
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee

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

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. Under the Plain Language of the Statute and the Fundamental Principles of Statutory Interpretation, Machinery That Performs Industrial Processing as Defined in Subsection (3) is Exempt.

The Department no longer challenges the determination that the Container Recycling Machines conduct activities (inspection, testing, quality control, sorting, crushing, shredding and recycling) that are identified as industrial processing activities under Subsection (3). Rather, the Department takes issue with the Court of Appeals' application of Subsection (3) and Subsection (7)(a), both of which define the parameters of exempt industrial processing operations. The Department asks this Court to interpret the specific statement of industrial processing operations in Subsection (3) as limited and controlled by the more general definition of Subsection (7)(a). The Department's argument is incorrect. First, under rules of statutory interpretation, a specific provision controls over a general provision on the same subject. A definitional section that identifies specific activities that are "included" in the generally defined term is an expansion of the general definition. Second, this Court has already recognized that industrial processing is defined under both Subsections (3) and (7)(a). Finally, under this Court's *Detroit Edison* decision, neither raw material storage nor finished good storage is a necessary condition for industrial processing. For those reasons, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals' judgment.

#### 1. The Specific Statutory Definition of Industrial Processing Activity Controls Over the General Definition of Industrial Processing.

The principle rule for statutory construction is to discern and give effect to the Legislature's intent as expressed in the statutory language. *Massey v Mandell*, 462 Mich 375, 379-380; 614

NW2d 70 (2000); *DiBenedetto v West Shore Hosp*, 461 Mich 394, 402; 605 NW2d 300 (2000). “The Legislature is presumed to have intended the meaning it plainly expressed.” *Linsell v Applied Handling, Inc*, 266 Mich App 1, 15; 697 NW2d 913 (2005). If the language is plain and unambiguous, then judicial construction is neither necessary nor permitted. *Ally Financial, Inc*, 502 Mich at 493.

In this case, the statute is not ambiguous and must be applied as written. The industrial processing exemption is structured as follows. Subsection (1) defines persons entitled to claim the exemption. Subsection (2) provides for apportionment of the tax between exempt and non-exempt use. Subsection (3) defines specific industrial processing activities and Subsection (6) defines activities excluded from industrial processing. Subsection (4) identifies eligible property and Subsection (5) identifies ineligible property. Finally, Subsection (7) provides general definitions, including a general definition of “industrial processing” in Subpart (a). The first sentence of Subsection (7)(a) defines activities and operations that generally constitute industrial processing. The second sentence identifies when non-exempt raw material storage ends and industrial processing begins and when exempt industrial processing ends.

When machinery is sold to a person entitled to claim the exemption, the exemption applies if the machinery performs industrial processing activity under Subsection (3). If the machinery does not perform one of the specific activities listed under Subsection (3), but the machine’s activities meet the general definition of industrial processing under Subsection (7)(a), then the exemption applies to the sale or use.

In this case, the Container Recycling Machines perform activities defined as industrial processing activities under Subsection (3) and this plain language controls. The Department fails to identify any ambiguity in the statutory language. Instead, the Department argues that the

taxpayer must also identify an antecedent incidence of raw material storage in order to qualify for the exemption. Under this Court's application of general/specific rule of statutory construction, the Department's argument fails. Under the general/specific rule "[I]t is a settled rule of statutory construction that where a statute contains a specific statutory provision and a related, but more general, provision, the specific one controls." See *In re Haley*, 476 Mich 180, 198; 720 NW2d 246 (2006); see also *Ter Beek v City of Wyoming*, 495 Mich 1, 22; 846 NW2d 531 (2014) ("It is well accepted that when two legislative enactments seemingly conflict, the specific provision prevails over the more general provision."). This rule applies when there is a statutory tension or conflict between two possible treatments of a subject. *Detroit Edison* at 44. In this case, the Subsection (3) specific delineation of exempt industrial processing operations controls over Subsection (7)(a) general provisions. The Department's argument that the general definition of industrial processing's limits and must be applied to trump the specific definition of industrial processing of Subsection (3) must fail.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the statutory definitions of industrial processing. Subsection (7)(a) states:

'Industrial processing' means the activity of converting or conditioning tangible personal property by changing the form, composition, quality, combination, or character of the property for ultimate sale at retail or for use in the manufacturing of a product to be ultimately sold at retail.

Subsection (3) lists eleven categories of activities and operations that are also defined as industrial processing by stating, "Industrial processing includes the following activities: . . . ." The purpose of the separate listing of these eleven activities was to ensure inclusion in the exempt industrial processing category despite any apparent disqualification under the general definition of Subsection (7)(a). "[W]here there is an apparent conflict between two statutes, a fundamental rule of statutory construction requires that the specific statute control over the general and that the

specific statute be viewed as an exception to the general rule." *In re Johnson Estate*, 152 Mich App 200, 205; 394 NW2d 136 (1986); *Evanston YMCA Camp v State Tax Comm'n*, 369 Mich 1, 8; 118 NW2d 818 (1962). Subsection (3) activities are exempt without regard to Subsection (7)(a).

Under the specific/general rule, Subsection (3) controls and the Container Recycling Machines, by performing multiple activities under Subsection (3), qualify for the exemption. The Court of Appeals properly construed the statute as a whole to hold that the activities listed in Subsection (3) are NOT limited by the further statement in Subsection (7)(a) that "Industrial processing begins when tangible personal property begins movement from raw materials storage to begin industrial processing and ends when finished goods first come to rest in finished goods inventory storage." *TOMRA* at 296.

Moreover, where a term, such as industrial processing, is defined by declaring what it "includes", the definition is enlarged because "includes" is a term of enlargement, not restriction. *NACG Leasing v Dep't of Treasury*, 495 Mich 26, 31; 843 NW2d 891 (2014) ("As we have stated previously, 'including' is a term of enlargement, not limitation."); see also *Mich Bell Tel Co v Dep't of Treasury*, 445 Mich 470, 479; 518 NW2d 808 (1994), citing 2A Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction (5<sup>th</sup> ed), § 47.07, pp 151-156. The Department previously agreed stating, "These modifiers [in Subsection 3, 4, 5 & 6] demarcate the contours of 'industrial processing'—regardless of whether the activity satisfies the definition of 54t(7)(a)." Department's Motion for Summary Disposition, App 161b at 18. The Department argues the statutory phrase "industrial processing includes" in Subsection (3) is not an expansion of the Subsection (7)(a) definition. This is an error and is contrary to this Court's holdings.

Sections of statutes on the same subject must be construed to give all sections effect. *Fradco, Inc v Dep't of Treasury*, 495 Mich 104; 845 NW2d 81 (2014); *Guitar v Bieniek*, 402 Mich

152; 262 NW2d 9 (1978). Thus, Subsection (3) and (4)(b)'s use of the words "industrial processing includes" and "property that is eligible . . . includes" requires these subsections to be treated as *expansions and specific inclusions* within the Subsection (7)(a) general exemption definition. *Detroit Edison*, 498 Mich at 39, 42-45. Those activities specifically identified as exempt processing in Subsection (3) must be excluded from any purported limitation for this subsection to have meaning as a definitional enlargement. The MCL 205.54t(3) Subsections (d), (g), (i), (j), and (k) qualifying activities performed by the machines are exempt processing followed by storage of in-process property, not raw materials. See *Detroit Edison*, 498 Mich at 55-56.

**2. Limiting Exempt Industrial Processing Activities to Certain Time Periods Unlawfully Negates Much of Subsection (3), Contradicts Published Departmental Guidance and is Contrary to Legislative Purpose.**

The Department argues that property may only be eligible for the exemption if it meets the supposed temporal requirement included in the second sentence of Subsection (7)(a) because otherwise the language would be rendered nugatory in violation of a bedrock rule of statutory construction. Appellant's Brief at 16. But what about the first sentence of Subsection (7)(a)? Under that same logic, isn't it also required to be applied to all exempt activity in order to not be rendered nugatory in the same way as the second sentence? Under the Department's argued for interpretation of the statute, all of the (7)(a) general definition must apply to all sections of the statute. Every activity listed in Subsection (3) only qualifies if the property "converts and conditions property . . . by changing the form, composition, quality, combination, or character of the property" *and* that activity occurs between raw material storage and final good storage. Taking the Department's argument to its logical conclusion, the research or experimental activities<sup>40</sup>;

---

<sup>40</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(b) and MCL 205.94o(3)(b).

engineering<sup>41</sup>; inspection, quality control, or testing<sup>42</sup>; planning scheduling, supervision or control of production<sup>43</sup>; design, construction by changing the form, composition, quality, combination, or character of the property<sup>44</sup>; and storage of in-process materials <sup>45</sup>would not constitute industrial processing because these activities fail to meet the requirements. This renders most of Subsection (3) meaningless and fails to harmonize the statute. The Department appears to argue that “industrial processing” can be defined and applied without regard to the first sentence of Subsection (7)(a) but the second sentence of (7)(a) is a mandatory requirement. This makes no logical sense. Nor has the Department identified a rule of statutory construction under which the first sentence of a definition is not required to apply to all other portions of the statute but the second sentence is. This conflicting application of the two parts of the “industrial processing” definition must be rejected.

Even applying only the purported temporal requirement to all of Subsection (3) simply does not work and fails to harmonize the statute. Again, this restriction would have to apply to *all* of the delineated operations listed under Subsection (3), and doing so would render most of Subsection (3) nugatory and is at odds with principles of statutory construction. *State Farm Fire & Cas Co*, 466 Mich at 146 (holding that courts must give effect to every word, phrase and clause

---

<sup>41</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(c) and MCL 205.94o(3)(c).

<sup>42</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(d) and MCL 205.94o(3)(d). Logically, raw material testing occurs before use in production for quality control. The Department states that testing raw materials is exempt and equipment used to test raw materials and for quality control function are exempt. Revenue Admin Bull 2000-4 Example 5, App 219b.

<sup>43</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(e) and MCL 205.94o(3)(e).

<sup>44</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(f) and MCL 205.94o(3)(f).

<sup>45</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(k) and MCL 205.94o(3)(k).



in a statute and avoid an interpretation that would render any part of the statute surplusage or nugatory).

Subsection (3) includes activities that occur wholly separate and apart from raw material storage and in some case prior to raw materials storage. For example, “research or experimental activities,” “engineering related to industrial processing,” “design [and] construction . . . of production or other exempt machinery, equipment, and tooling” are all activities that necessarily occur before raw material storage and would never meet the requirement of the second sentence of Subsection (7)(a). Likewise, “recycling” and “remanufacturing” occur after an item has entered finished goods storage and would not meet the requirement of the third sentence of Subsection (7)(a) and, again, the Department gives no reason why the first, second and third sentences of Subsection (7)(a) apply to some of the specifically enumerated activities in Subsection (3) but not others. While inspection, quality control, or testing<sup>46</sup> may occur after movement from raw material storage, such a restriction renders negates the language of Subsection (3)(d) that qualifies those activities when they occur “*at any time* before materials or products first come to rest in finished goods inventory storage.” MCL 205.54t(3)(d). If the supposed temporal limitation was meant to apply to all of Subsection (3), the broader Subsection (3)(d) time period of “any time” would be unnecessary. Application of the second sentence of Subsection (7)(a) as a limitation renders the allowable activity period of Subsection(3)(d) nugatory and surplusage. Because Department’s proposed construction of the statute renders parts of the statute meaningless, it must fail. *Johnson v Recca*, 492 Mich 169, 177; 821 NW2d 520 (2012); *King v Michigan*, 488 Mich 208, 218; 793

---

<sup>46</sup> MCL 205.54t(3)(d)

NW2d 673 (2010). In short, the Department's argument seeking selective enforcement of Subsection (7)(a), must be rejected.

In addition, the Department's published guidance does not require the supposed temporal limitation for industrial processing activities. Revenue Admin Bull 2000-4 titled *Sales and Use Tax – Industrial Processing*, June 13, 2000, App 216b sets forth the Department's published guidance. The explanations and examples on pages 3 through 7 and examples 3 through 19 apply the definitions of Subsection (3). None of the explanations or examples impose a requirement that raw material storage be specifically identified as occurring prior to the exempt industrial processing activity. Specifically, Examples 5 and 6 state that equipment and supplies used and consumed in testing raw materials meet the testing and quality control function and are exempt as long as the testing occurs prior to finished goods storage.

Finally, the Department's argument is contrary to the legislative purpose of the industrial processing exemption. 1999 PA 116 and 117 were enacted to "revise and expand the industrial processing exemption."<sup>47</sup> There is no indication of any legislative purpose to narrow or otherwise limit the exemption as the Department claims.

**3. Under This Court's Decision in *Detroit Edison* Subsection (3) Activities Qualify Without Meeting the Subsection (7)(a) Definition of Industrial Processing.**

The Court of Appeals interpretation is in accord with this Court's decision in *Detroit Edison*. In *Detroit Edison*, this Court was tasked with applying the industrial processing statute to the generation and transmission of electricity to determine what activities constituted industrial

---

<sup>47</sup> See, e.g. Senate Legislative Analysis, SB 544, HB 4744, 4745, and 4586 (July 19, 1999) at 4, App 207b; House Legislative Analysis, HB 4744, HB 4745, and SB 544 (July 16, 1999) at 4, App 239a.

processing. This Court began by applying the definitions of industrial processing under both Subsection (7)(a) and Subsection (3). As the Court stated, “MCL 205.94o(7)(a) and MCL 205.94o(3) set forth the activity that does constitute ‘industrial processing.’” *Detroit Edison*, 498 Mich at 55. This Court stated:

‘[i]ndustrial processing’ activity is generally defined by MCL 205.94o(7)(a). However, the statute also provides that certain specific activities that do not satisfy the general MCL 205.94o(7)(a) definition nonetheless constitute “industrial processing” activity for purposes of the statute. [*Detroit Edison*, 498 Mich at 49 n 13.]

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